RECEIVED

Nov 19 2021

SC Court of Appeals

**STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE
COURT OF APPEALS**

Appeal from the Court of Common Pleas
For Charleston County
Honorable J. Durham Cole, Circuit Court Judge
Civil Action No.: 2017-CP-10-04371
Appellate Case No.: 2021-000446

CARY E. FECHTER, M.D.,

Appellant,

vs.

LEON MARTIN ORTNER; THE ORTNER
LAW FIRM, LLC; GERALD ROSENTHAL, and
ROSENTHAL, LEVY, SIMON and RYLES, P.A.,

Respondents.

***INITIAL BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT,
CARY E. FECHTER, M.D.***

Stephen P. Groves, Sr., Esquire
SC Bar No.: 7854
BUTLER SNOW LLP
25 Calhoun Street, Suite 250
Charleston, South Carolina 29401
Telephone: 843.277.3704
Telecopier: 843.277.3701

I. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL

- A. Whether The Circuit Court Incorrectly Concluded The South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission Had Subject Matter Jurisdiction Over The Appellant's Claims Against Both The Ortnier Respondents And The Rosenthal Respondents?

- B. Whether The Circuit Court Incorrectly Granted The Ortnier Respondents' Motion To Dismiss The Appellant's Complaint And Incorrectly Denied The Appellant's Motion For Reconsideration Of The Order Granting The Ortnier Respondents' Motion To Dismiss The Appellant's Complaint?

- C. Whether The Circuit Court Incorrectly Granted The Rosenthal Respondents' Motion To Dismiss The Appellant's Complaint And Incorrectly Denied The Appellant's Motion For Reconsideration Of The Order Granting The Rosenthal Respondents' Motion To Dismiss The Appellant's Complaint?

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On 25 August 2017 (*Ortner Order*, p.3; *Rosenthal Order*, p.3), the Appellant, Cary E. Fechter, M.D. (“Dr. Fechter”), sued both the Respondents, Leon Martin Ortner and The Ortner Law Firm LLC (the “Ortner Respondents”), as well as the Respondents, Gerald Rosenthal and Rosenthal, Levy, Simon, and Ryles (the “Rosenthal Respondents”). Dr. Fechter asserted claims for breach of contract (*Ortner Order*, p.3; *Rosenthal Order*, p.2; *Comp.*, paras. 3-21; *Dr. Fechter Aff.*, paras. 2, 8, 11-18), fraud (*Ortner Order*, p.3; *Rosenthal Order*, p.2; *Comp.*, paras. 3-17, 22-30; *Dr. Fechter Aff.*, paras. 22-28), breach of contract with fraudulent intent (*Ortner Order*, p.3; *Rosenthal Order*, p.2; *Comp.*, paras. 3-17, 32-34; *Dr. Fechter Aff.*, paras. 29-31), violation of the South Carolina Unfair Trade Practices Act¹ (*Ortner Order*, p.3; *Rosenthal Order*, p.2; *Comp.*, paras. 3-17, 36-38; *Dr. Fechter Aff.*, paras. 32-34), and pre-judgment interest. (*Ortner Order*, p.3; *Rosenthal Order*, p.2; *Comp.*, paras. 3-17, 40; *Dr. Fechter Aff.*, para. 35).

Dr. Fechter served the Ortner Respondents with the pleadings through the U.S. Postal Service (certified mail, return receipt requested) and by “leaving . . . copies of the [pleadings] with [the Ortner Respondents] at 145 King Street, S[uite] 211, Charleston, S[outh] C[arolina]. (*Ortner Order*, pp.3, 6-7; *MDB 01.02.19 Ortner Affidavit*, p.1; *USPS Tracking Sheet Ortner*, p.1).² Similarly, Dr. Fechter served the Rosenthal Respondents with the pleadings, also through the U.S. Postal Service (certified mail, restricted

¹ See S.C. Code Ann. §§ 39-5-10 *et seq.* (Thomson Reuters West 2020). See generally Woodson v. DLI Properties, LLC, 406 S.C. 517, 753 S.E.2d 428 (2014); S.C. Nat’l Bank v. Silks, 295 S.C.107, 367 S.E.2d 421 (Ct.App. 1988).

² This is the address which the Ortner Respondents use on their website. See <https://www.ortnerlawfirm.com/>. (Last viewed on 17 November 2021).

delivery), “leaving . . . copies of the [pleadings] with [the Rosenthal Respondents] at 1401 Forum Way, Sixth Floor, West Palm Beach, Florida. (*Rosenthal Order*, pp.2, 5; *MDB 01.08.19 Rosenthal Affidavit*, p.1).³

Instead of filing an *Answer*, the Ortner Respondents moved to dismiss Dr. Fechter’s action (*Ortner Order*, p.4)⁴ arguing as follows: (a) the Circuit Court did not have subject matter jurisdiction (*Ortner MTD*, pp.5-7), (b) Dr. Fechter failed to exhaust his administrative remedies (*Ortner MTD*, pp.7-9), (c) the claims were barred by waiver, collateral estoppel, laches, *res judicata*, etc. (*Ortner MTD*, pp.9-13), (d) there was insufficient service of process (*Ortner Order*, p.4; *Ortner MTD*, pp.14-15), and (e) that the SCUPTA claim failed to allege facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action. (*Ortner MTD*, pp.15-17). Dr. Fechter responded in opposition. (*MDB Affidavits of Service, USPS Tracking Forms, USPS Return Receipts*). By order dated 5 April 2019, the Hon. Deadra L. Jefferson, denied the Ortner Respondents’ motion. (*Ortner Order*, p.4; *Jefferson Order*, pp.1-15), as well as their reconsideration motion. (*Jefferson Order II*, pp.1-2).⁵

On 14 May 2019, the Rosenthal Respondents, also declining to file an *Answer*, similarly moved to dismiss Dr. Fechter’s Complaint. (*Rosenthal Order*, p.1; *Rosenthal MTD*, pp.1-15).⁶ The Rosenthal Respondents argued that (a) Dr. Fechter had failed to

³ This is the address which the Rosenthal Respondents use on their website. See <https://www.rosenthallevy.com/>. (Last viewed on 17 November 2021). The Rosenthal Respondents are now known as Rosenthal, Levy, Simon & Sosa.

⁴ See Rules 12(b)(1), (3), (5)-(6), SCRCivP. (*Ortner Order*, p.4).

⁵ The Ortner Respondents appealed Judge Jefferson’s decision to this Court of Appeals on 22 July 2019. (*Ortner Order*, p.4). This Court of Appeals, by order dated 25 October 2019, ultimately dismissed the appeal as involving an issue which was not immediately appealable. (*Ortner Order*, p.4).

⁶ See Rules 12(b)(1)-(2), (4)-(5), SCRCivP. (*Rosenthal Order*, pp.1, 6).

properly serve either of the Rosenthal Respondents (*Rosenthal Order*, p.6; *Rosenthal MTD*, pp.7-11, 13) and (b) the Circuit Court did not have subject matter jurisdiction to consider Dr. Fechter's claims. (*Rosenthal Order*, pp.6-7; *Rosenthal MTD*, pp.11-13). In concert, on 19 December 2019, the Ortner Respondents renewed their previously denied Motion to Dismiss, arguing that Dr. Fechter "failed to effect service of the Summons and Complaint within the statute of limitations."⁷ (*Ortner Order*, pp.4, 8; *Ortner MTD II*, p.1). Dr. Fechter again opposed each motion. (*MDB Affidavits of Service, USPS Tracking Forms, USPS Return Receipts*).

The Hon. J. Derham Cole held a hearing on 27 January 2020, to consider both the Ortner Respondents' and the Rosenthal Respondents' respective pending motions. (*Ortner Order*, p.1; *Rosenthal Order*, p.1; *01.27.20 Hearing Trans.*, pp.1-23). Judge Cole took the matters under advisement (*01.27.20 Hearing Trans.*, p.21) and, by form order dated 5 February 2020, granted both. (*Form 4 Order I*, p.1).⁸

By written order filed 8 June 2020, Judge Cole granted the Rosenthal Respondents' dismissal motion. (*Rosenthal Order I*, pp.1-15). By written order filed 4 August 2020, Judge Cole correspondingly granted the Ortner Respondents' dismissal motion. (*Ortner Order*, pp.1-11). Dr. Fechter sought reconsideration of both dismissal orders. (*Rosenthal Reconsideration*, pp.1-20; *Ortner Reconsideration*, pp.1-13). The Circuit Court, by Form 4 order dated 30 March 2021, denied reconsideration in both cases. (*Form 4 Order II*, p.1). This appeal followed.

⁷ See Rule 12(b)(5), SCRCivP. (*Ortner Order*, p.4).

⁸ Judge Cole noted that "[c]ounsel for the Defendants [we]re requested to prepare and submit a proposed order for the [Circuit] [C]ourt's consideration." (*02.05.20 Form 4 Order*, p.1).

III. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

A. Dr. Fechter Is Retained by The Respondents

Sometime in 2005, a number of individual employee claimants retained the Ortner Respondents to represent them (the "Nevamar Claimants") in a worker's compensation action against their employers - International Paper Company ("IPC") and Nevamar Company, LLC ("Nevamar").⁹ (*Rosenthal Order*, pp. 13; *Jefferson Order*, p.3; *SCWCC Consent Order*, p.1; *SCWCC Order Releasing Funds*, p.2). The Nevamar Claimants asserted they "may have been exposed to toxic chemicals while working at the Nevamar plant in Hampton County, South Carolina."¹⁰ (*Rosenthal Order*, pp. 13; *Motion to Release Funds*, p.1; *SCWCC Order Releasing Funds*, p.2). Sometime in or around October 2005, the Ortner Respondents¹¹ retained Dr. Fechter to perform independent medical examinations ("IME") of and issue independent evaluation reports on the Nevamar Claimants. (*Ortner Order*, p.2; *Rosenthal Order*, p.2; *Jefferson Order*, p.3; *Dr. Fechter Aff.*, paras. 2-3; *Motion to Release Funds*, pp.1-2; *SCWCC Order Releasing Funds*, p.3;

⁹ In addition to IPC and Nevamar, both IPC and Ace American Ins., Co. were also named in the workers' compensation action as the insurers for IPC (apparently self-insured) and Nevamar. These parties will collectively be referred to herein as "Nevamar". "Nevamar is the brand name for durable, high performance, high pressure laminates [which] is the surface solution of choice for high-use applications on surfaces in hospitals, stores, hotels, offices, lobbies, restaurants, and educational institutions." See <https://distributorserviceinc.com/DSI-Nevamar-Laminates.html> (last viewed on 10 November 2021). Nevamar is a member of Panolam Surface Systems. See <https://panolam.com/nevamar/> (last viewed on 17 November 2021).

¹⁰ Nevamar previously operated a production facility in Hampton, South Carolina, but it was closed due to Nevamar's decision to consolidate production in another facility elsewhere. See generally <https://www.wtoc.com/story/26341332/nevamar-to-close-plant-in-hampton-county/> (last viewed on 17 November 2021).

¹¹ The Ortner Respondents later associated the Rosenthal Respondents in 2006 to assist in representing the Nevamar Claimants. (*Ortner Order*, p.2; *Rosenthal Order*, p.13; *Jefferson Order*, p.3; *Dr. Fechter Aff.*, para. 6; *Motion to Release Funds*, p.1; *11.17.15 Rosenthal Aff.*, paras. 5-6).

11.17.15 *Rosenthal Aff.*, para. 10; *Comp.*, para. 5). Dr. Fechter was to be paid \$500.00 per Nevamar Claimant for the initial IME and report (*SCWCC Order Releasing Funds*, p.3; *Motion to Release Funds*, p.2; 11.17.15 *Rosenthal Aff.*, para. 10; *Complaint*, para. 7), as well as additional sums for subsequent medical examinations and/or evaluation reports. (*Ortner Order*, p.2; *Rosenthal Order*, p.2; *Jefferson Order*, p.3; *Dr. Fechter Aff.*, para. 4; *Comp.*, para. 7).¹²

B. The Scope Of Dr. Fechter's Retention

In addition to the initial (and potentially subsequent) IMEs of the Nevamar Claimants, Dr. Fechter asserted that both the Ortner Respondents and the Rosenthal Respondents also agreed to pay him for, among other medical procedures, pulmonary function tests, stress tests, sleep study examinations, as well as for medical treatment not included within the Nevamar Claimants' health insurance coverage. (*Ortner Order*, p.2; *Rosenthal Order*, p.2; *Jefferson Order*, p.3; *Dr. Fechter Aff.*, paras. 5, 12-13; 11.02.15 *Dr. Fechter Depo.*, p.53, line 2 – p.54, line 23; *Comp.*, para. 8; *SCWCC Ortner Reply*, pp.2-4). The Rosenthal Respondents affirmed the Ortner Respondents' agreement with Dr. Fechter to pay him for all rendered medical services associated with the Nevamar Claimants. (*Ortner Order*, p.2; *Jefferson Order*, p.3; *Dr. Fechter Aff.*, para. 8; 11.17.25 *Rosenthal Aff.*, para. 10; 11.02.15 *Dr. Fechter Depo.*, p.54, lines 1-23; *Comp.*, para. 11; *SCWCC Ortner Reply*, pp.2-4). In fact, the Rosenthal Respondents paid Dr. Fechter an initial \$25,000.00 retainer for the first 50 Nevamar Claimants chosen from the pool of potentially many hundreds of possible claimants. (*Rosenthal Order*, p.2; *Jefferson Order*,

¹² Dr. Fechter was supposed to be paid \$150.00 for performing a second IME and report and \$100.00 for a third IME and report. (*Dr. Fechter Aff.*, para. 4; *Comp.*, para. 5; *SCWCC Motion to Release Funds*, p.5 fn.1).

p.4; *SCWCC Motion to Release Funds*, pp.2, 5, 11; *SCWCC Order Releasing Funds*, p. 3; *Dr. Fechter Aff.*, para. 9; *11.17.15 Rosenthal Aff.*, para. 11; *Comp.*, para. 12).¹³ It is undisputed that when Dr. Fechter submitted his invoices for payment of the IMEs, evaluation reports, etc. (*Rosenthal Order*, p.2) he would, in return, receive a standard response letter from the Ortner Respondents (to which the Rosenthal Respondents later acquiesced) advising to Dr. Fechter that he should “[p]lease be advised that [his medical] fee w[ould] be protected in this matter and that [he] w[ould] be paid in full upon settlement or verdict in th[e] [Nevamar Claimants’ workers’ compensation litigation].” (*Jefferson Order*, p.4; *SCWCC Order Releasing Funds*, pp.2-3; *Ortner Letter*, p.1; *Comp.*, para. 16; *Dr. Fechter Aff.*, para. 14). The Ortner Respondents and/or the Rosenthal Respondents provided Dr. Fechter with a copy of the standard fee protection letter for each of he Nevamar Claimants he treated. (*Dr. Fechter Aff.*, para. 36).

C. Dr. Fechter’s Medical Services Billing Dispute

In 2010, Dr. Fechter invoiced the Rosenthal Respondents for the extensive medical services he had performed on a significant number of the Nevamar Claimants which medical fees and expenses were well in excess of the original \$25,000.00 retainer paid to him by the Rosenthal Respondents. (*Rosenthal Order*, p.2; *SCWCC Order Releasing Funds*, p.3; *Dr. Fechter Aff.*, paras. 11-18; *SCWCC Motion to Release Funds*, p.2; *11.17.25 Rosenthal Aff.*, para. 13). This included uninsured medical fees, costs, and expenses for medical treatment which Dr. Fechter provided to many of the Nevamar

¹³ Once the Ortner Respondents associated the Rosenthal Respondents into the workers’ compensation litigation, the latter group assumed the full responsibility of seeing that Dr. Fechter was paid for the medical and other services he provided to the Nevamar Claimants. (*SCWCC Order Releasing Funds*, p.3; *Comp.*, paras. 9-10; *SCWCC Ortner Reply*, p.4).

Claimants, as well as for “initial examinations [performed] and initial reports [prepared for] approximately [458] of the [Nevamar Claimants, together with] numerous subsequent examinations and reports on [many of] the [same Nevamar Claimants].” (*Dr. Fechter Aff.*, paras. 10-13; *11.02.15 Dr. Fechter Depo.*, p.22, line 11 – p.24, line 23; p.54, lines 1-23; *SCWCC Motion to Release Funds*, p.2; *11.17.15 Rosenthal Aff.*, para. 13; *Comp.*, paras. 13-15). The Rosenthal Respondents disputed any payment responsibility to Dr. Fechter. (*Comp.*, para. 18; *SCWCC Motion to Release Funds*, pp.5-11).¹⁴

In specific response, the Rosenthal Respondents sent Dr. Fechter a letter dated 28 October 2010, challenging the validity of his medical services invoicing (*SCWCC Motion to Release Funds*, p.2) and asserting (a) one of the designated/lister patients was not a client of the Rosenthal Respondents, (b) Dr. Fechter, in fact, owed the Rosenthal Respondents some \$5,150.00,¹⁵ and (c) the Rosenthal Respondents never had any agreement to pay for uninsured medical procedures, co-pays, deductibles, etc. (*SCWCC Order Releasing Funds*, pp.4-7; *10.28.19 Rosenthal Letter*, p.1; *11.17.25 Rosenthal Aff.*, para. 13).

¹⁴ The Ortner Respondents did not take a position as to the validity of Dr. Fechter’s demand for any additional medical fee payments. (*SCWCC Ortner Reply*, pp.1-2, 4). Once the Rosenthal Respondents entered the Nevamar Claimants’ workers’ compensation litigation they agreed to be responsible for the payment of all litigation expenses. (*SCWCC Ortner Reply*, pp.1-2, 4).

¹⁵ Dr. Fechter’s alleged “debt” to the Rosenthal Respondents was based on the Rosenthal Respondents’ assertion that Dr. Fechter had treated only 39 of the chosen 50 test Nevamar Claimants. (*SCWCC Order Releasing Funds*, p.3; *SCWCC Motion to Release Funds*, pp.2; 5-6; *11.17.2015 Rosenthal Aff.*, paras. 10-12). At \$500.00 per patient for 39 patients equaled \$19,500.00, thereby “justifying” the Rosenthal Respondents’ claims for reimbursement.

D. The South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission Addresses Dr. Fechter's Medical Services Billing Dispute

On 1 April 2014,¹⁶ the Nevamar Claimants globally settled their collective workers' compensation claims against Nevamar. (*Ortner Order*, p.2; *SCWCC Consent Order*, pp.1-5; *SCWCC Order to Release Funds*, p.1; *SCWCC Motion to Release Funds*, p.3).¹⁷ As part of the settlement, Nevamar deposited the total amount of the agreed-upon settlement funds into a special financial account administered by a court-appointed special referee (*SCWCC Order Releasing Funds*, p.1; *Special Referee Rpt.*, p.1; *SCWCC Consent Order*, para. 5),¹⁸ to include allocation of attorney's fees and costs. (*Ortner Order*, p.2; *SCWCC Consent Order*, para. 5).¹⁹ Ultimately, the Special Referee held back \$500,000.00 of the settlement funds for the possible payment of approved litigation costs associated with the SCWCC litigation. (*SCWCC Order Releasing Funds*, p.1; *Special Referee Rpt.*, paras. 1.b., 3.a.).²⁰ The SCWCC, however, had to approve distribution of those funds. (*SCWCC Order Releasing Funds*, p.2; *Special Referee Rpt.*, para. 3.a.).

16 By 26 January 2016, "all workers' compensation cases underlying [Dr. Fechter's] causes of action against [the] Rosenthal [Respondents and the Ortner Respondents had been] resolved . . ." (*Rosenthal Order*, pp.3, 6; *Comp.*, para. 17). As of that date all of the necessary settlement documents had been executed and all of the settlement funds had been distributed. (*Ortner Order*, p.3; *Comp.*, para. 17; *Fechter Aff.*, para. 15).

17 In 2014 Dr. Fechter reiterated his additional funds claim once the Nevamar Claimants had globally settled their claims. (*Ortner Order*, pp.2-3; *SCWCC Motion to Release Funds*, p.2).

18 The Special Referee determined if an individual Nevamar Claimant was entitled to workers' compensation benefits and, if so, in what amount. (*SCWCC Consent Order*, para. 5).

19 The SCWCC had to and did approve the Special Referee's proposed distribution of the attorney's fees and costs. (*SCWCC Consent Order*, para. 5; *12.10.15 SCWCC Order*, pp.1-3; *SCWCC Order Releasing Funds*, p.1).

20 The Special Referee was tasked with reviewing, among other things, the parties' "submitted expert opinions and medical reports . . ." (*Special Referee Rpt.*, paras. 2.a.-2.c.). Such documentation would necessarily have included Dr. Fechter's expert opinions and medical reports.

On 18 November 2015, the Rosenthal Respondents requested the SCWCC to release the remaining \$500,000.00 in held-back settlement funds. (*SCWCC Order to Release Funds*, p.1; *SCWCC Motion to Release Funds*, pp.1-13). The Rosenthal Respondents argued that (a) the SCWCC had jurisdiction to decide the dispute, (b) Dr. Fechter had no legal claim to additional funds as he had (i) no contractual agreement with the Rosenthal Respondents, (ii) unilaterally chosen to provide other medical services to many of the Nevamar Claimants, and (iii) already been paid for the medical service rendered, and (c) the equities favored the Rosenthal Respondents. (*SCWCC Order to Release Funds*, pp.2, 4-8; *SCWCC Motion for Release of Funds*, pp.3-12). In concert, the Ortner Respondents joined in and with the Rosenthal Respondents' motion (*SCWCC Order To Release Funds*, p.1; *SCWCC Ortner Reply*, pp.1-5), however only to the extent that the SCWCC was being asked "to inquire into Dr. Fechter's . . . entitlement to payment for professional services rendered [and] determin[e] the right of all concerned parties [and] direct[] the disbursement of funds [still] being held in trust." (*SCWCC Ortner Reply*, p.1).²¹

The SCWCC concluded that it had proper jurisdiction to address the appropriate disbursement of the remaining \$500,000.00 in held-back settlement funds and, more importantly, had subject matter jurisdiction to determine the validity and legitimacy of Dr. Fechter's payments claim for additional medical and other services to the Nevamar

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