THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

**RECEIVED**

**Jun 07 2022**

**SC Court of Appeals**

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas  
J. Derham Cole, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2021-000446  
Civil Action No. 2017-CP-10-04371

---

Cary E. Fechter, M.D. .... Appellant,

v.

Leon Martin Ortner, The Ortner Law Firm, LLC, Gerald Rosenthal,  
and Rosenthal, Levy, Simon, and Ryles, P.A. .... Respondents.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS**  
**LEON MARTIN ORTNER AND ORTNER LAW FIRM, LLC**

---

M. Dawes Cooke, Jr., Esquire  
Justin P. Novak, Esquire  
Barnwell Whaley Patterson & Helms, LLC  
P.O. Drawer H

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

As Appellant admits that his right to further payment arose on January 26, 2016, (Compl. ¶ 17; R. p. 83.), the applicable statute of limitations at least required that Appellant commence an action against the Ortner Respondents by January 26, 2019. See S.C. Code § 15-3-530. While Appellant filed the Summons and Complaint on August 25, 2017, as discussed above, Appellant failed to effect service of the Summons and Complaint upon the Ortner Respondents prior to January 26, 2019. Accordingly, the trial court's determination on February 5, 2020, that Appellant had failed to effect service upon either of the Ortner Respondents on December 7, 2017, precluded Appellant from commencing the action against the Ortner Respondents.

As there is evidence to support the trial court's decision that Appellant failed to effect service upon Respondent Ortner Law Firm, LLC, with the Summons and Complaint prior the expiration of the applicable statute of limitations, the trial court did not abuse its discretion by dismissing Appellant's claims with prejudice. As a result, this Court should affirm the trial court's dismissal of Appellant's claims against Respondent Leon Martin Ortner and Respondent Ortner Law Firm, LLC.

**II. The trial court’s dismissal of Appellant’s claims against Respondents Leon Martin Ortner and Ortner Law Firm, LLC is further supported by the additional sustaining ground that the trial court lacked jurisdiction over the subject matter of Appellant’s claims because the South Carolina Workers’ Compensation Commission previously exercised exclusive original jurisdiction over the subject matter of the causes of action and divested the Circuit Court of jurisdiction to hear and determine the claims.**

“Jurisdiction is generally defined as ‘the authority to decide a given case one way or the other.’” Limehouse, 404 S.C. at 104, 744 S.E.2d at 572 (quoting 32A Am.Jur.2d Federal Courts § 581 (2007)). “Specifically, ‘Jurisdiction is composed of three elements: (1) personal jurisdiction; (2) subject matter jurisdiction; and (3) the court’s power to render the particular judgment requested.’” Id. (quoting Indep. Sch. Dist. No. 1 of Okla. County v. Scott, 15 P.3d 1244, 1248 (Okla. Civ. App. 2000)). “‘Without jurisdiction, a court cannot proceed at all in any cause; jurisdiction is the power to declare law, and when it ceases to exist, the only function remaining to a court is that of announcing the fact and dismissing the cause.’” Id. (quoting 32A Am.Jur.2d Federal Courts § 581 (2007)).

“Subject matter jurisdiction is the power to hear and determine cases of the general class to which the proceedings in question belong.” Dove v. Gold Kist, Inc., 314 S.C. 235, 237-38, 442 S.E.2d 598, 600 (1994). “A court’s subject matter jurisdiction is determined by whether it has the authority to hear the type of case in question.” Allison v. W.L. Gore & Associates, 394 S.C. 185, 188, 714 S.E.2d 547, 549 (2011) “A court lacking subject matter jurisdiction . . . has no authority to act[.]” Dove, 314 S.C. at 238, 442 S.E.2d at 600. “This same principle applies to administrative agencies.” Allison, 394 S.C. at 188, 714 S.E.2d at 549.

The Constitution of the State of South Carolina provides that “[t]he Circuit Court shall be a general trial court with original jurisdiction in civil and criminal cases, except those cases in which exclusive jurisdiction shall be given to inferior courts[.]” S.C. CONST Art. V, § 11.

Accordingly, “[w]hile the circuit court has subject matter jurisdiction over [general classes of] claims, certain cases may be taken from the circuit court’s original jurisdiction by the General Assembly.” Poch v. Bayshore Concrete Products/South Carolina, Inc., 386 S.C. 13, 22, 686 S.E.2d 689, 694 (Ct. App. 2009). For example, “[t]he General Assembly has vested the South Carolina Workers’ Compensation Commission with exclusive original jurisdiction over employees work-related injuries.” Posey v. Proper Mold & Eng’g, Inc., 378 S.C. 210, 223, 661 S.E.2d 395, 402 (Ct. App. 2008) (citing Sabb v. S.C. State Univ., 350 S.C. 416, 423, 567 S.E.2d 231, 234 (2002)). As a result, “a Workers’ Compensation action is the exclusive means to determine claims against an individual’s employer for work-related accidents and injuries.” Id. at 224, 661 S.E.2d at 403.

As part of this exclusive original jurisdiction, the Workers’ Compensation Commission has the authority to determine all questions relating to workers’ compensation claims, including the approval and disbursement of costs incurred in the prosecution of a claim. S.C Code § 42-3-180 (“All questions arising under this title, if not settled by agreement of the parties interested therein with the approval of the commission, shall be determined by the commission, except as otherwise provided in this title.”); S.C. Code Regs. § 67-1206 (“[A]n attorney may request approval of the actual costs incurred in the prosecution of a claim [including] expenses associated with the evaluation or treatment of the client.”); Laboureur v. Harleysville Mutual Insurance Company, 302 S.C. 540, 543, 397 S.E.2d 526, 528 (1990) (holding that the Workers’ Compensation Commission is also empowered to decide questions not arising under the Workers’ Compensation Act that arise in the context of an employee’s claim although ancillary to the determination of the employee’s right to compensation). A party’s failure to raise to the Commission the factual issue of jurisdiction constitutes waiver. McGreery v. Covenant Presbyterian Church, 303 S.C. 271, 274, 400 S.E.2d 130, 131 (1990) (“Where subject matter jurisdiction depends upon a factual finding, a

judicial decree determining such a fact does or does not exist cannot be challenged on collateral attack.”)).

In Sadie Adams, et al., v. International Paper Company and Nevamar Company, LLC (WCC File No. 0326995), the Workers’ Compensation Commission properly exercised its exclusive original jurisdiction over claims for costs incurred in the prosecution of the action. (S.C. Code § 42-3-180; S.C. Code Regs. § 67-1206; Order Granting Mot. to Release Funds at 2, Jan. 26, 2016; R. p. 58.) The dispute over the costs incurred in the prosecution of the action principally arises under the Worker’s Compensation Act because the Act expressly provides that an attorney—as opposed to a medical provider—may request approval of the actual costs incurred in the prosecution of a claim, including expenses associated with the evaluation or treatment of claimants, which are paid directly from any claim proceeds recoverable by the claimants. Compare S.C. Code Regs. § 67-1206 (“[A]n attorney may request approval of the actual costs incurred in the prosecution of a claim [including] expenses associated with the evaluation or treatment of the client.”) with Baker Hospital v. Firemans Fund Insurance Company, 314 S.C. 98, 441 S.E.2d 822 (1994) (holding that medical provider did not have standing to seek redress before the South Carolina Worker’s Compensation Commission) and Roper Hospital v. Clemons, 326 S.C. 534, 539, 484 S.E.2d 598, 600 (1997) (“The lack of an express statutory grant of standing to health care providers clearly supports finding that Appellant is without standing before the Commission”). The determination of any such costs is necessary to the determination of claimants’ rights to compensation because the costs are ultimately borne by the claimants. This includes the approval and disbursement of the fees sought by Appellant through the appointment of the special referee. (See Order Granting Mot. to Release Funds at 7, Jan. 26, 2016; R. p. 63 (“[Appellant has] received payments well in addition to \$25,000 from his patients, insurance companies, Medicare, and other

third party sources.”); Order, May 27, 2015; R. p. 73.) Otherwise, the language of S.C. Code Regs. § 67-1206 would be without meaning. Accordingly, Appellant’s claims were properly adjudicated by the Commissioner pursuant to the adoption of the Special Referee’s Initial Report at the request of the attorneys in the Workers’ Compensation Actions. (Compare Compl.; R. p. 81 with Order Granting Mot. to Release Funds at 3, Jan. 26, 2016; R. p. 59.) As a result, the Circuit Court had been divested of jurisdiction to hear and determine Appellant’s claims as the proper forum for the adjudication of the claims was the Workers’ Compensation Commission.

Moreover, although provided the opportunity, Appellant failed to raise any factual issue contesting the Commission’s jurisdiction. (Order Granting Mot. to Release Funds at 2, 4, 5-6, 9, Jan. 26, 2016; R. pp. 58, 60, 61-62, 65.) The failure to raise to the Commission any factual issue of jurisdiction constitutes waiver of whether the Commission had been the proper forum for adjudication of the claims, particularly where the parties relied upon the determination of the extent of any such costs as part of the determination of the claimants’ rights to compensation. McGreery, 303 S.C. at 274, 400 S.E.2d at 131 (“Where subject matter jurisdiction depends upon a factual finding, a judicial decree determining such a fact does or does not exist cannot be challenged on collateral attack.”). Accordingly, Appellant waived the issue of whether the Commission had been the proper forum for adjudication of the claims.

As the Commission exercised exclusive original jurisdiction over the subject matter of Appellant’s causes of action and Appellant failed to raise the factual issue of jurisdiction before the Commission when provided the full and fair opportunity to litigate the matter, the Circuit Court was divested of jurisdiction to hear and determine the claims asserted in the Complaint. As a result, the trial court’s dismissal of Appellant’s claims against Respondents Leon Martin Ortner and Ortner Law Firm, LLC is further supported by the additional sustaining ground that the trial court

lacked jurisdiction over the subject matter of Appellant’s claims because the South Carolina Workers’ Compensation Commission previously exercised exclusive original jurisdiction over the subject matter of the causes of action and divested the Circuit Court of jurisdiction to hear and determine the claims.

**III. The trial court’s dismissal of Appellant’s claims against Respondents Leon Martin Ortner and Ortner Law Firm, LLC is further supported by the additional sustaining ground that the trial court lacked jurisdiction over the subject matter of Appellant’s claims because Appellant failed to exhaust the administrative remedies provided for in the South Carolina Workers’ Compensation Law.**

The doctrine of exhaustion of administrative remedies comes into play “when a litigant attempts to invoke the original jurisdiction of a circuit court to adjudicate a claim based on a statutory violation for which the legislature has provided an administrative remedy.” Capital City Ins. Co. v. BP Staff, Inc., 382 S.C. 92, 102, 674 S.E.2d 524, 530 (2009) (quoting Thomas Sand Co. v. Colonial Pipeline Co., 349 S.C. 402, 413, 563 S.E.2d 109, 115 (Ct. App. 2002)). “[D]ismissal may be proper under Rule 12(b)(6), SCRPC, for failure to state a claim where the opposing party is required to exhaust its administrative remedies as a matter of law, but failed to do so.” Id. at 101, 674 S.E.2d at 529 (citing Unisys Corp. v. S.C. Budget & Control Bd., 346 S.C. 158, 176, 551 S.E.2d 263, 273 (2001)).

As discussed above, “[t]he General Assembly has vested the South Carolina Workers’ Compensation Commission with exclusive original jurisdiction over employees work-related injuries.” Posey, 378 S.C. at 223, 661 S.E.2d at 402 (citing Sabb, 350 S.C. at 423, 567 S.E.2d at 234). As a part of this exclusive original jurisdiction, the Commission has the authority to determine all questions relating to workers’ compensation claims, including the disbursement of costs. S.C Code § 42-3-180; S.C. Code Regs. § 67-1206. In addition, the General Assembly has

prescribed mandatory rules for the administrative review of Commission determinations. See S.C. Code § 42-17-50; S.C. Code § 42-17-60; Allison, 394 S.C. at 187-89, 714 S.E.2d at 548-50.

The South Carolina Workers' Compensation Law ("SCWCL") expressly provides that a party seeking review of a single commissioner's ruling must seek review from the Commission within fourteen days of notice of the determination. S.C. Code § 42-17-50. The SCWCL also provides that a party must appeal a determination of the Commission by serving and filing a notice of appeal with the South Carolina Court of Appeals within thirty days of the determination. S.C. Code § 42-17-60. If not reviewed in due time, a determination "is conclusive and binding as to all questions of fact." Id. The South Carolina Supreme Court has held that the Commission lacks jurisdiction over a single commissioner's determination where not timely appealed. Allison, 394 S.C. at 188-89, 714 S.E.2d at 549-50.

In this matter, the Commission exercised exclusive original jurisdiction over the approval and disbursement of attorney's fees and costs, which required an adjudication of the claims asserted in the Complaint. Although properly served with the Motion to Release Funds, Reply of Leon Martin Ortner to Motion to Release Funds, and Order Granting Motion to Release Funds, Appellant failed to pursue his claims before the Commission prior to the disbursal of the funds held in trust. Appellant also failed to pursue the statutorily prescribed remedies to review the Commissioner's determination that neither the Ortner Respondents nor the Rosenthal Respondents had failed to pay Appellant any sums owed to him. Appellant did not seek review by the Commission within fourteen days of service of the order. Appellant did not serve and file notice of appeal with the Court of Appeals within thirty days of service of the order.

As a result, the trial court's dismissal of Appellant's claims against Respondents Leon Martin Ortner and Ortner Law Firm, LLC is further supported by the additional sustaining ground

that the trial court lacked jurisdiction over the subject matter of Appellant's claims because Appellant failed to exhaust the administrative remedies provided for in the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Law. S.C. Code § 42-17-50 (providing a mandatory process for review of a single commissioner's ruling); S.C. Code § 42-17-60 (providing a mandatory process for review of the Commission's ruling); see also Unisys Corp., 346 S.C. at 176, 551 S.E.2d at 273 (affirming that failure to exhaust administrative remedies precludes original resort to courts where an administrative agency is granted exclusive jurisdiction by the express terms of a statute); Allison, 394 S.C. at 187-89, 714 S.E.2d at 548-50 (holding that the Commission lacked jurisdiction to hear an untimely appeal of a single commissioner's ruling).

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